RECEIVED

Aug 02 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable William H. Seals, Jr.
Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-001306
Circuit Court Case No. 2023-CP-22-00007

Elizabeth M. Powers and Edward A. Powers; Martha C. Green; Steven E. Basso;
James R. Sherman; Alexander V. Picard and Jessica L. Picard; Parkersville Planning
& Development Alliance; Keep It Green; and Preserve Murrells Inlet, Inc.

Appellants,

v.

Georgetown County; and Alliance for Economic Development for
Georgetown County

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

/s/ F. Patrick Hubbard

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT PLAINTIFFS' COMPLAINT FAILED TO STATE A CLAIM THAT GEORGETOWN COUNTY APPROVAL OF THE AMENDMENT TO A PLANNED DEVELOPMENT WAS *ULTRA VIRES* BECAUSE THE APPROVAL CONFLICTED WITH SUBSECTION 6-29-760(A) OF THE ENABLING ACT?
2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT PLAINTIFFS' COMPLAINT FAILED TO STATE A CAUSE OF ACTION UNDER THE DECLARATORY JUDGMENTS ACT?
3. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY CONSIDERING THE MERITS OF THE UNDERLYING CONTROVERSY AND APPLYING AN EVIDENTIARY PRESUMPTION IN THE CONTEXT OF A RULE 12(b)(6), SCRPC, MOTION TO DISMISS?
4. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DISMISSING PLAINTIFFS' COMPLAINT AS A MATTER OF LAW ON THE BASIS OF FAILURE TO ALLEGE A CONSTITUTIONAL DEPRIVATION?
5. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ITS INTERPRETATION AND APPLICATION OF THE ENABLING ACT REQUIREMENT THAT ZONING "REGULATIONS MUST BE MADE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN FOR THE JURISDICTION" AND IN FINDING THAT GEORGETOWN COUNTY MET THE STATUTORY REQUIREMENT IN THIS CASE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The narrow issue before the court is whether Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint¹ (sometimes hereinafter "Complaint") sufficiently sets forth a cause of action under the broad provisions of the Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act, S.C. Code 1976, §§ 15-53-10, *et seq.*, (hereinafter "Declaratory Judgments Act"), and the South Carolina Local Government Comprehensive Planning Enabling Act of 1994, S.C. Code 1976, §§ 6-29-310, *et seq.*, (hereinafter "Enabling Act").

Appellants assert that the trial court improperly dismissed Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint on Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCPP, Motions to Dismiss, and that their Amended Complaint: (1) properly states a cause of action under the Declaratory Judgments Act and the Enabling Act; and (2) raises issues of material fact that cannot properly be resolved in a Rule 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss without development of the record.

1. Summary of Complaint

This case involves a zoning change application to amend the "Mercom Technology Park Planned Development," located in the heart of an historical African American neighborhood of Pawleys Island, Georgetown County, known as Parkersville. (Amended Complaint, pars. 1, 7, 8; R pp. 147-148). The amendment requested to change the Mercom Technology Park Planned Development ("PD") zoning from an unconstructed non-residential technology park consisting of primarily vacant land, to a high density multi-family residential luxury housing development. (Amended Complaint, par. 6; R. p. 148).

¹ Plaintiffs' Complaint was Amended to correct the name of one of the Defendants from "Alliance for the Economic Development for Georgetown County, Inc.," to "Alliance for Economic Development for Georgetown County." There were no substantive differences between the original Complaint and the Amended Complaint and there was no procedural activity prior to the Amended Complaint. In this brief, references to "Complaint" and "Amended Complaint" are used interchangeably to refer to Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint filed February 6, 2023. (R. p. 146).

The Complaint (R. p. 146) is supported by 150 paragraphs of detailed factual averments incorporating 18 exhibits, and requests the court to declare the zoning amendment invalid and void for the following reasons:

1. County Council's approval of the rezoning was *ultra vires* because Council did not comply with provisions of the Enabling Act regarding recommendation by Planning Commission. (Amended Complaint, pars. 15(c), 102-115; R. pp. 150, 171-176).
2. The Mercom Technology Park was not a valid Planned Development capable of amendment because: (a) it was a single use PD and void from its inception (*ultra vires*) under the Enabling Act, *Sinkler v. County of Charleston*, 387 S.C. 67, 690 S.E.2d 777 (2010), and other law; and/or (b) it should have been reverted to its former zoning classification of Forest Agriculture (FA) pursuant to Georgetown County Zoning Ordinance §1703 (Amended Ord. 2005-37), which requires reversion of Planned Developments that have not been constructed within two years of approval. (Amended Complaint, pars. 15(a), 40-70; R. pp. 150, 156-165).
3. The zoning change was not in accordance with the Comprehensive Plan as required by the Enabling Act. (Amended Complaint, pars. 15(d), 71-95; R. pp. 150, 165-170).
4. The application to amend was defective because it was submitted by only one of the three Planned Development owners in violation of Georgetown County Ordinances and other law. (Amended Complaint, pars. 15(b), 65-70; R. pp. 150, 164-165).
5. Georgetown County Council acted arbitrarily and capriciously, violated state law and local ordinances, ignored the clear and unambiguous terms of the Georgetown County Comprehensive Land Use Plan, and disregarded the Planning Commission's unanimous vote to deny approval due to failure to conform to the Comprehensive

Plan. (Amended Complaint, pars. 15, 71-115; R. pp. 150, 165-176).

6. Three members of Georgetown County Council who voted on this issue should have recused themselves due to conflicts of interest. (Amended Complaint, pars. 15(h)-(i), 111-112; R. pp. 151, 175).

2. Procedural History

Defendants are Georgetown County and Alliance for Economic Development for Georgetown County (hereinafter "Alliance"). (Amended Complaint, pars. 37-39; R. pp. 155-156). Plaintiffs are seven individual adjoining landowners and three local citizens groups that represent adjoining and neighboring landowners and residents of the local minority neighborhood. (Amended Complaint, pars. 16-35; R. pp. 151-155).

Georgetown County and Alliance filed Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCPP, Motions to Dismiss on March 2, and March 3, 2023, respectively. (R. pp. 262, 264). On April 5, 2023, Plaintiffs filed a Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants' Motions to Dismiss. (R. p. 267). Defendants Georgetown County and Alliance filed memoranda in support of their Motions to Dismiss on April 5, 2023, and April 6, 2023. (R. pp. 272, 285).

On April 6, 2023, a WebEx virtual hearing was held on Defendants' motions. Following the hearing, Plaintiffs were given additional time to respond to issues raised by Defendants shortly before the hearing. On April 17, 2023, Plaintiffs filed a Supplemental Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants' Motions to Dismiss. (R. p. 308).

A final order was issued on May 31, 2023, granting Defendants' Motions to Dismiss. (R. p. 7). Plaintiffs filed a Rule 59(e), SCRCPP, Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment on June 12, 2023, (R. p. 328), which was denied without hearing by abbreviated Form 4 Order dated July 18, 2023, (R. p. 24). Plaintiffs filed a timely Notice of Appeal on August 16, 2023. (R. p. 379).

FACTS

The Mercom Technology Park PD consists of three separate tracts of land. Each separate tract is owned by the following three distinct entities: (1) Alliance (the rezoning applicant) is the owner of Parcel #3 (14.45 acres); (2) Waccamaw Land, LLC, owns Parcel #1 (6.37 acres); and (3) The Barn on Petigru, LLC, formerly "Mercom," owns Parcel #2 (7.39 acres). (Amended Complaint, pars. 1, 2, 40; R. pp. 147, 156). The application to amend the Planned Development was submitted by Alliance as the sole applicant. The Alliance did not act as agent for or on behalf of the other two Mercom PD owners. Neither of the other two owners joined in the application. (Amended Complaint, pars. 40(q), 40(v), 65; R. pp. 159-160, 164).

1. Zoning & Comprehensive Plan Map History

The 28.4 acre tract was originally purchased by Waccamaw Land, LLC, in 2004, for use in its landscaping business. At that time the land was zoned Forest Agriculture (FA) and designated for no residential use. (Amended Complaint, pars. 1, 2, 40(a); R. pp. 147, 156). In 2008, architect Steve Goggans, (a member of Georgetown County Council at the time of the PD amendment application at issue), as agent for the landowner, applied for a zoning change from Forest Agriculture (FA) to a Planned Development (PD) called "Pawleys Island Business Commons" to construct a business park to be used for commercial resort services. The zoning change was approved by County Council in 2008, but construction of the Pawleys Island Business Commons was never started, and none of the approved "Planned Development" was built. (Amended Complaint, pars. 40(b)-(e); R. pp. 156-157).

In 2013, Waccamaw Land subdivided the tract into three parcels. One parcel was retained by Waccamaw Land and the other two were ultimately acquired by the other two owners: Alliance and The Barn on Petigru. In 2015, a zoning change application was submitted by

owners of all three parcels to amend the Pawleys Island Business Commons Planned Development from resort services to a technology park, and to change the name to “Mercom Technology Park Planned Development.” The requested zoning change was again based on plans designed and submitted by architect Steve Goggans. The zoning change was approved by Georgetown County Council on October 20, 2015, but construction of Mercom Technology Park never started. No written extensions were ever requested or granted by Georgetown County. (Amended Complaint, pars. 40(f)-(o); R. pp. 157-159).

Both the 2008 and 2015 Planned Developments were "single use" Planned Developments with approved uses consistent with uses permitted within a single commercial zoning district. "Single use" Planned Developments were declared invalid by the South Carolina Supreme Court in *Sinkler, supra*, as discussed below in Argument 3. (Amended Complaint, pars. 40-43; R. pp. 156-161).

Neither the Pawleys Island Business Commons nor the Mercom Technology Park had ever been zoned for residential development, and the Comprehensive Plan Maps designated all three parcels as strictly commercial. In addition to the non-residential map designations, the text of the Georgetown County Comprehensive Land Use Plan specifically restricts increased or additional residential density in the geographic area where the Mercom PD was located. Residential density increases are allowed only in very limited and specific circumstances, none of which apply to this situation. (Amended Complaint, pars. 2-5, 83-90; R. pp. 147-148, 167-169).

2. Georgetown County Mandatory Reversion Ordinance

Georgetown County Zoning Ordinance §1703, which has been in effect since 2005, requires that, when construction has not started on a PD within two years of approval, the PD

will revert to the prior zoning classification. Georgetown County Planning Commission *shall* initiate proceedings to revert the Planned Development to its original zoning classification or other classification consistent with the Comprehensive Plan. (Amended Complaint, par. 46; R. p. 161).

Ordinance 1703 provides as follows:

To prevent land speculation at the expense of the general public and to insure the timing of projects in accordance with stated development objectives, construction *shall* start on all properties rezoned Planned Development within two (2) years after rezoning.

If construction is not begun within two (2) years after rezoning to a Planned Development, the Planning Commission *shall* review the zoning of said property, and, unless presented cogent reasons to allow additional time, *shall initiate proceedings to return the zoning of the property to its original classification*, or to such classification as the Planning Commission deems consistent with the Comprehensive Plan. If additional time is allowed, the Planning Commission *shall* review the zoning of the property at the expiration of such additional time if construction has still not begun.

The Planning Staff *shall* periodically review the status of property which has been rezoned Planned Development, and bring to the attention of the Planning Commission any property which falls within the scope of this section.

(emphasis added.)

In this case, the original zoning classification was Forest Agriculture (FA). (Amended Complaint, par. 49; R. p. 162). By the terms of its own ordinance, Georgetown County was *required* to initiate reversion proceedings to revert to FA in 2017, two years after approval of the Mercom Technology Park which remained wholly unconstructed. (Amended Complaint, pars. 46-47; R. pp. 161-162). Over the course of several years, neighboring landowners and members of the community repeatedly requested the county to initiate reversion proceedings in accordance with Ordinance 1703. More than 1,000 residents of Parkersville and the South Waccamaw Neck

submitted a formal Petition to Georgetown County requesting reversion of the Mercom PD in accordance with local ordinances. The county disregarded these requests. (Amended Complaint, pars. 51-53; R. pp. 162-163). As a result, the Mercom Technology Park remained improperly zoned as an invalid and unbuilt single use Planned Development District until the Alliance submitted an application for its amendment on August 16, 2022.

3. Planning Commission Public Hearing

At the public hearing on September 15, 2022, the Georgetown County Planning Commission unanimously voted to *deny* approval of the Alliance's zoning change request on the basis that it conflicted with the Comprehensive Plan and FLU Maps. (Amended Complaint, pars. 11, 102-104; R. pp. 149, 171-172).

4. County Council Decision

Despite the Planning Commission's unanimous decision to deny the request for the Planned Development Amendment, County Council approved the rezoning in a 4-1 vote without complying with: (1) Subsection 6-29-760(A) of the Enabling Act, which requires that the change by the County Council be submitted to the Planning Commission for review and recommendation; (2) provisions of the Comprehensive Land Use Plan restricting residential density increases in the geographic area of the Mercom PD; (3) the Enabling Act requirement that zoning be in accordance with the Comprehensive Plan; (4) state law regarding the invalidity of single use Planned Developments; (5) the Georgetown County reversion ordinance and other procedures; and (6) without considering the signatures of more than 1,000 residents of Parkersville and the South Waccamaw Neck opposing the requested zoning change to high density residential on the basis that it would be a detriment to the community. (Amended Complaint, pars. 12, 113-115; R. pp. 149, 176-177).

5. Conflicts of Interest of County Council Members

Two members of County Council who voted in favor of the zoning change were active members of the Board of Directors of Alliance, the entity requesting the zoning change. (Amended Complaint, par. 13, 111; R. pp. 149, 175). A third member of Council who voted in favor of the zoning change was the architect who had been paid to prepare the plans upon which the Mercom Technology Park PD was approved in 2015 and served as the applicant's agent for the 2008 Planned Development amendment. (Amended Complaint, par. 14, 112; R. pp. 150, 175). All three were requested by Plaintiffs and other citizens to recuse themselves from participating in or voting on this issue due to conflicts of interest or the appearance of impropriety. All three refused to recuse themselves and voted in favor of this zoning change. (Amended Complaint, pars. 111-112; R. p. 175).

6. Other Relevant Considerations

The Mercom PD is located along a narrow back road in the heart of Parkersville which is one of the oldest and most historically significant neighborhoods in Pawleys Island. Parkersville represents one of the last vestiges of traditional African American life, history, and culture on the Waccamaw Neck. It encompasses a geographic area of about 2 square miles and is traditionally characterized by forest-agricultural land uses and low to medium density single family homes on narrow tree-lined roads, which are often unpaved, representative of the low country. Parkersville has been a longstanding target of detrimental county land use decisions that conflict with the Comprehensive Plan. As a result, the area suffers from commercial encroachment, predatory development of heirs' property, and gentrification. These impacts cause substantial displacement of residents of the minority community and threaten the survival of this important historical neighborhood. (Amended Complaint, pars. 7-9; R. pp. 148-149).

The amended Mercom PD is extraordinary in several respects. First, the amendment affects only a portion of the land involved even though Section 6-29-720(C)(4) of the Enabling Act requires a "unified site design." Second, it is a "zombie" PD because it is effectively "dead" under Ordinance 1703. Third, the other owners did not join in the request as required by Section 619.501 of the Georgetown County Zoning Ordinance. Fourth, the listing of nonresidential uses provides no certainty of whether any of these will be included. Finally, since the adoption of the original PD in 2008, several PD proposals have been approved; however, none of the proposals has been implemented.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing a decision on a Motion to Dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRC, “the appellate court applies the same standard of review as the trial court.” *Doe v. Marion*, 373 S.C. 390, 397, 645 S.E.2d 245, 247 (2007). “In considering a motion to dismiss a complaint based on a failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action, the trial court must base its ruling *solely on allegations set forth in the complaint ...*” *Id.* 398, 247-48 (emphasis added). “If the facts alleged and inferences reasonably deducible therefrom, viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, would entitle the plaintiff to relief on any theory, then dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6) is improper.” *Id.* (emphasis added).

The case at bar also involves questions of law and statutory interpretation. The standard of review for these issues is *de novo*. *South Carolina Public Interest Foundation v. Calhoun County Council*, 432 S.C. 492, 854 S.E.2d 836, 837 (2021), (“[T]he interpretation of a statute is a question of law for the Court to review *de novo*.”)

ARGUMENTS

1. THE APPROVAL OF THE REZONING OF PARCEL 3 OF THE MERCOM PD AS HIGH DENSITY RESIDENTIAL WAS *ULTRA VIRES* BECAUSE THE GEORGETOWN COUNTY COUNCIL DID NOT COMPLY WITH THE PROVISIONS OF SUBSECTION 6-29-760(A) OF THE ENABLING ACT.

Under the Enabling Act, the Planning Commission plays a major role in developing and recommending plans, policies, and regulations for adoption by the City or County Council.² The adoption or amendment of a zoning classification is addressed in Section 6-29-760. This section provides for a sharing of power between the County Council and the Planning Commission when enacting a zoning proposal.

A. Planning Commission Recommendation

Because of the importance of this sharing of power, Subsection 6-29-760(A) contains the following provision concerning the treatment of recommendations by the Planning Commission:

"No change in or departure from the text or maps as recommended by the local planning commission may be made pursuant to the [Council] hearing unless the change or departure be first submitted to the planning commission for review and recommendation." (emphasis added).

A recent South Carolina Attorney General Opinion notes that "the zoning ordinance (S.C. Code §6-29-760(A)) is clear that Council cannot change a zoning recommendation of the Planning Commission without submission to the Commission" Op. S.C. Att'y Gen., 2021 WL 1832308. *See, e.g., Charleston County School District v. Harrell*, 393 S.C. 552, 713 S.E.2d 604, 609 (2011) ("Attorney General opinions, while persuasive, are not binding ...").

The Georgetown County Council did not comply with this provision when it adopted the zoning change in November 2022. Instead, the Council simply adopted the Ordinance at issue

² *See, e.g.,* Enabling Act, §§ 6-29-340, 6-29-510, 6-29-520.

without seeking the required Planning Commission recommendation. As a result, the adoption of the ordinance was *ultra vires* and, therefore, void.

B. Role of the Enabling Act

The Rhode Island Supreme Court stated the general principle for applying an enabling act as follows: Where a local government “purports to restate that for which provision is made in the enabling act, any attempt to expand or abridge in the zoning ordinance rights granted by the enabling act is *ultra vires* of the jurisdiction conferred upon such a local legislature by the General Assembly and, therefore, is void.” *Hardy v. Zoning Board of Review of the Town of Coventry*, 321 A.2d 289, 290–291 (R.I. 1974).

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