RECEIVED

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

Aug 29 2024

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

Honorable William H. Seals, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-001306
Case No. 2023-CP-22-00007

Elizabeth M. Powers and Edward A. Powers; Martha C. Green; Steven E. Basson; James R. Sherman; Alexander V. Picard and Jessica L. Picard; Parkersville Planning & Development Alliance; Keep It Green; and Preserve Murrells Inlet, Inc.,.....Appellants,

v.

Georgetown County; and Alliance for Economic Development for Georgetown County
..... Respondents.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ALLIANCE FOR

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

therefore the circuit court could not provide the relief Appellants seek. *Knowles*, 305 S.C. at 224, 407 S.E.2d at 642.

Because Appellants did not allege a constitutional deprivation, each of Appellants' six grounds to invalidate the 2022 Ordinances must fail under prevailing South Carolina law. Accordingly, the Court should affirm the circuit court's dismissal of all six of Appellants' requests for declaratory judgment to invalidate the 2022 Ordinances.

III. Appellants failed to preserve and/or present Counts I, II, IV, V, and VI for appellate review, and also presented new claims and theories for appellate review that were not raised to the circuit court.

Assuming the Court does not affirm the Dismissal Order based on Appellants' failure to allege a constitutional deprivation, this Court should affirm the Dismissal Order on procedural grounds. Specifically, in their zeal to make sweeping, disorganized arguments about why the circuit court erred in its approach to dismissing their Complaint, Appellants failed to preserve many of their legal claims for appellate review. Appellants also attempt to have the appellate court rule on a claim that is not in the pleadings, and raise a new theory that is not in the pleadings or any other documents presented to the circuit court. As explained further below, this Court should decline to consider unpreserved issues, issues that are not properly presented for appellate review, and issues that were not pled or presented to the circuit court.

a. Rules of issue preservation and requirements for appellate review.

"It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal." *Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011). Accordingly, appellate courts will not consider claims that are not presented in the pleadings. *McNeely v. S.C. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co.*, 259 S.C. 39, 41, 190 S.E.2d 499 (1972). While it is not required that a party "use the exact name of a legal doctrine in order to preserve the issue," "the issue must be sufficiently clear

to bring into focus the precise nature of the alleged error so that it can be reasonably understood by the judge.” *Herron*, 395 S.C. at 466, 719 S.E.2d at 642.

With regard to the brief itself, “[o]rdinarily, no point will be considered which is not set forth in the statement of the issues on appeal.” Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR. While appellate courts *may* consider an issue not specifically set out in the statement of issues *if* it is reasonably clear from the appellant’s arguments, the Supreme Court instructs that “[e]very ground of appeal ought to be so distinctly stated that the reviewing court may at once see the point which it is called upon to decide without having to ‘grope in the dark’ to ascertain the precise point at issue.” *Herron*, 395 S.C. at 466; 719 S.E.2d at 642-43, *quoting Jones v. Lott*, 387 S.C. 339, 692 S.E.2d 900 (2010). Appellate courts will also deem an issue abandoned if it is only argued in short, conclusory manner without supporting authority. *State v. Jones*, 344 S.C. 48, 58-59, 543 S.E.2d 541, 546 (2001), *citing Muir v. C.R. Bard, Inc.*, 336 S.C. 266, 519 S.E.2d 583 (Ct. App. 1999).

Finally, with regard to claims that are dismissed on more than one ground, appellate courts will affirm dismissal “unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become the law of the case.” *Atlantic Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis*, 398 S.C. 323, 328, 730 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2012). This is referred to as the “two issue rule.” (*Id.*)

b. Appellants raise a new claim/theory for the first time on appeal.

In Issue I of Appellants’ Statement of Issues on Appeal, Appellants invoke Section 6-29-760(A) of the Planning Act as their basis for seeking a declaration that the 2022 Ordinances are invalid. (**App. Final Brief, p. 8**). Section 6-29-760(A) sets forth the procedure for enacting and amending zoning regulations, which requires first submitting any “change in or departure from the text or maps as recommended by the local planning commission” to the planning commission “for review and recommendation.” Appellants ***never once*** raised a violation of Section 6-29-760(A) of

the Planning Act to the circuit court as the basis for declaring the 2022 Ordinances invalid. In fact, there is not one citation to or mention of Section 6-29-760(A) in the Complaint, Memorandum of Law in Opposition to Defendants' Motion to Dismiss, or Motion to Alter or Amend. Not one. Appellants now argue *for the first time* that County Council adopted the 2022 Ordinances without first allowing the Planning Commission to review and make a recommendation (which is factually inaccurate), rendering the 2022 Ordinances “*ultra vires* and, therefore, void.” (**App. Final Brief, p. 19-20**). Because appellate courts will not consider issues not raised in the pleadings and will not allow litigants to raise issues for the first time on appeal, the Court cannot consider Appellants' new argument for why the 2022 Ordinances were *ultra vires*. *Herron*, 395 S.C. at 465, 719 S.E.2d at 642; *McNeely*, 259 S.C. at 41, 190 S.E.2d at 499.

c. *Appellants did not preserve Count I for appellate review.*

Count I of the Complaint requests a declaratory judgment that the Mercom PD is not a valid planned development district because County Council previously only approved it for a single-use. (**R. 160-61 & R. 180**). The circuit court found *as a matter of law* that the Mercom PD is a valid planned development district under the Planning Act and that Appellants' claim is barred under the applicable statute of limitations, dismissing this claim on both grounds. (**R. 15-17**). Appellants failed to properly preserve Count I for appellate review for at least two reasons.

First, Appellants do not include any reference to this issue in the Statement of Issues on Appeal. Despite the absence of this issue from the Statement of Issues on Appeal, Appellants include a short discussion in their brief regarding the case Appellants relied on at the circuit court to argue the Mercom PD was invalid from inception: *Sinkler v. Cty. of Charleston*, 387 S.C. 67, 690 S.E.2d 777 (2010). (**App. Final Brief, pp. 20-21**). However, Appellants do not articulate how the finding in *Sinkler* supports or even relates to any issue on appeal, instead simply stating with

no analysis that the Court should not be deferential to County Council’s legislative decision “because, as in *Sinkler v. County of Charleston*, the Georgetown County Council failed to follow the requirements of the [Planning] Act.” (*Id.* at 21). Because Appellants failed to address the circuit court’s ruling on this issue in the Statement of Issues on Appeal *and* because Appellants’ arguments in the brief are not reasonably clear, the Court should not consider any arguments related the circuit court’s dismissal of Count I. Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR; *Herron*, 395 S.C. at 466, 719 S.E.2d at 642-43.

Second, the circuit court also ruled in the Dismissal Order that Appellants are statutorily barred from bringing a claim to invalidate the Mercom PD. (**R. 16**). Appellants do not identify the circuit court’s ruling on the statute of limitations in the Statement of Issues on Appeal. Nonetheless, Appellants discuss the statute of limitations in the Argument section of the brief. (**App. Final Brief, pp. 30-32**). However, Appellants’ only “legal” argument about why the statute of limitations does not apply is a conclusory statement with no citation to authority that the statute of limitations does not apply because County Council acted *ultra vires*. (*Id.* at 31). Because Appellants did not include the circuit court’s ruling on the statute of limitations in the Statement of Issues on Appeal and because Appellants make only a short, conclusory argument with no citation to legal authority, this issue is not properly before the Court. Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR; *State v. Jones*, 344 S.C. at 58-59, 543 S.E.2d at 546.

Appellants did not effectively appeal either of the circuit court’s grounds for dismissing Count I. However, even if the Court found that Appellants effectively appealed *one* of the grounds for dismissal, under the two issue rule, the Court must affirm the circuit court’s order if Appellants did not effectively appeal *both* grounds for dismissal. *Atlantic Coast Builders & Contractors*, 398 S.C. at 328, 730 S.E.2d at 284.

Appellants did not preserve Count I for appellate review and the Court should affirm the circuit court's order dismissing Count I.

d. Appellants did not preserve Count II for appellate review.

Count II of Appellants' Complaint requests a declaratory judgment that Georgetown County has a statutory mandate under Ordinance 1703 to revert all planned development districts to their prior zoning designation if construction has not begun within two years of approval. (**R. 180-81**). Because construction did not commence on the Mercom PD within two years of the 2015 Ordinance, Appellants request the circuit court to declare that the property reverted to its prior zoning designation in 2017 and that the 2022 Amendments are therefore null and void. (*Id.*) The circuit court ruled that *as a matter of law* that the plain language of Ordinance 1703 does not require automatic reversion of planned development districts if construction does not commence within two years. (**R. 17**).

Appellants do not appeal the circuit court's grounds for dismissing Count II in the Statement of Issues on Appeal. There is no mention of Ordinance 1703 or reversion. Appellants also do not dispute the circuit court's legal reasoning for dismissing Count II in the body of the brief. Instead, Appellants argue that the determination of what Ordinance 1703 requires is a *question of fact* that cannot be decided on a motion to dismiss. (**App. Final Brief, p. 32**). But Appellants are incorrect. What the plain language of Ordinance 1703 means is clearly a *question of law*; there are no facts Appellants could present that would change what the plain language means. Circuit courts are well-situated to decide questions of law at the motion to dismiss stage, and doing so is not an error. *See Unisys Corp.*, 346 S.C. at 165, 551 S.E.2d at 267 ("When the dispute is not as to the underlying facts but as to the interpretation of the law, and development of

the record will not aid in the resolution of the issues, it is proper to decide even novel issues on a motion to dismiss.”) (internal quotations omitted).

Because Appellants do not include dismissal of Count II in the Statement of Issues on Appeal and did not make any arguments about why the circuit court erred in its ruling on the *legal question* of what Ordinance 1703 requires, the Court should decline to review this issue and affirm the circuit court’s dismissal of Count II in the Dismissal Order. Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR; *Herron*, 395 S.C. at 466, 719 S.E.2d at 642-43.

e. Appellants did not preserve Count IV for appellate review.

Count IV of the Complaint requests a declaratory judgment that County Council’s approval of the 2022 Ordinances violated Ordinance 1701 because the zoning amendment to the Mercom PD was not justified by public necessity, convenience, general welfare or good zoning practice. (R. 182-83). The circuit court ruled *as a matter of law* that Ordinance 1701 requires an exercise of County Council’s legislative powers, which the circuit court cannot set aside absent a constitutional deprivation. (R. 18-19). Therefore, because Appellants did not allege a constitutional deprivation, the circuit court dismissed this request for Declaratory Judgment. (*Id.*)

Appellants do not appeal the circuit court’s grounds for dismissing Count IV in the Statement of Issues on Appeal. Moreover, Appellants make no legal arguments related to Ordinance 1701 in their brief. Because Appellants do not appeal the circuit’s ruling on Count IV in the Statement of Issues on Appeal and do not make any arguments about how the circuit court erred as a matter of law in dismissing Count IV, Appellants have abandoned Count IV, and this Court should affirm the circuit court’s dismissal. Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR; *Herron*, 395 S.C. at 466, 719 S.E.2d at 642-43.

f. Appellants did not preserve Count V for appellate review.

Count V of the Complaint requests a declaratory judgment that Georgetown Alliance’s Application was invalid under Ordinance 619.50 because it was not submitted jointly by all three parcel owners in the Mercom PD, rendering the 2022 Ordinances invalid. (**R. 183**). The circuit court analyzed Ordinance 619.50, and found *as a matter of law* that the plain and unambiguous language did not require all three parcel owners to join the Application. (**R. 19-20**). The circuit court also found that County Council’s construction of the Ordinance was entitled to deference, and that there was no potential violation of the other parcel owners’ constitutional rights because they received notice of the Application and an opportunity to be heard. (*Id.*).

Appellants do not appeal the circuit court’s grounds for dismissing Count V in the Statement of Issues on Appeal. Appellants also do not make any arguments about why the circuit court’s determination of what Ordinance 610.50 requires as a matter of law was an error. Appellants’ only passing references to Ordinance 619.50 are in the “Facts” section of the brief and in the section of the brief where Appellants summarize the allegations in the Complaint that Appellants argue set forth an “actual controversy.” (**App. Final Brief, pp. 10, 17, & 24**). Because Appellants do not appeal the circuit’s ruling on Count V in the Statement of Issues on Appeal and do not make any arguments about how the circuit court erred as a matter of law in dismissing Count V, Appellants have abandoned Count V, and this Court should affirm the circuit court’s dismissal. Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR; *Herron*, 395 S.C. at 466, 719 S.E.2d at 642-43.

g. Appellants did not preserve Count VI for appellate review.

Count VI of the Complaint requests a declaratory judgment that County Council’s approval of the 2022 Ordinances amounted to unlawful spot zoning. (**R. 183-84**). The circuit court dismissed Count VI *as a matter of law* on several grounds, including that Appellants’ allegations and legal theories could not overcome the “fairly debatable” standard applied to planned development

districts under prevailing South Carolina law. (R. 21-22). Appellants did not appeal the circuit court's ruling on Appellants' unlawful spot zoning claim in the Statement of Issues, nor did Appellants include any arguments related to spot zoning in the Argument section of their brief. Accordingly, Appellants plainly abandoned Count VI on appeal. Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR; *see Herron*, 395 S.C. at 466, 719 S.E.2d at 642-43.

h. Appellants' conflict of interest claim is not preserved for appellate review.

In their brief, Appellants attempt to replace Count VI of the Complaint with an *entirely different* claim. In their Statement of the Case, Appellants state that they requested the circuit court to invalidate the 2022 Ordinances on six grounds, with the sixth ground being “[t]hree members of Georgetown County Council who voted on this issue should have recused themselves due to conflicts of interest.” (App. Final Brief, p. 11). Of course, the sixth ground upon which Appellants actually requested declaratory judgment was that County Council engaged in unlawful spot zoning, not that County Council's zoning decision suffered from conflicts of interest. (R. 183-84). It is true that Appellants discussed alleged conflicts of interest in their pleading at various points, but Appellants *never* requested a declaratory judgment from the circuit court on the conflicts of interest issue. *See, e.g.*, (R. 175). Appellants also discussed the alleged conflicts of interest in their Motion to Alter or Amend, arguing that the circuit erred in not taking their allegation of a conflict of interest as true for purposes of ruling on Respondents' Motions to Dismiss. (R. 344-445). But again, whether there were conflicts of interest was not one of the claims the circuit court was asked to rule upon and therefore the issue was not discussed in the Dismissal Order.

Because Appellants did not request declaratory judgment on the conflicts of interest issue, and because Appellants did not include this issue in the Statement of Issues on appeal, the Court

should decline to consider this issue. *Herron*, 395 S.C. at 465, 719 S.E.2d at 642; *McNeely*, 259 S.C. at 41, 190 S.E.2d at 499.

IV. The Court Has An Independent Basis to Affirm the Dismissal Order as to Each Individual Claim for Declaratory Judgment that Appellants Attempted to Appeal

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